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1.0 LOCATION OF PROPERTY

1.1 Address
Mission Church:1525 Tremont Street
Rectory:1545 Tremont Street
Grammar School*: 100 St. Alphonsus Street
. Alphonsus Hall: 80 Smith Street
Misson School: 90 Smith Street
Convent: 100 Smith Street

Assessor’s par cel number: Ward 10, Parcd 12

1.2  Areain Which Property is L ocated

The Misson Church Complex is located in the Misson Hill section of Roxbury. The
162, 482 square foot Site is bound by Tremont Street, St. Alphonsus Street, Smith Strest,
and a baseball field on City of Boston property.

! The grammar school on St. Alphonsus Street has al so been referred to as the temporary rectory, and the Guild
Building.
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Boston Redevel opment Authority topographic map of the Mission Church complex
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DESCRIPTION
Typeand Use

Six buildings, two annexes, a boiler house, and a courtyard comprise the Mission Church
complex. Thefirgt built and most substantia building isthe basilica, Misson Church,
which was erected between 1876 and 1878. The tower additions followed in 1910. The
basilica continues to function as a house of worship. In 1888, the convent was built to
house the Sisters of Notre Dame, educators in nearby schools associated with the church.
Thisbuilding was enlarged in 1901 with the addition of athird floor and a roof terrace.
The convent has been vacant for twenty to thirty years except for the occasond use of a
single room in which children wait for trangportation from school. Congiruction of the
Mission School in 1889 provided a parochia school for the parish. A boiler house abuts
the rear of the building. The schoal has been vacant since roughly 2001, when it closed.
. Alphonsus Hall was built in 1898. It was designed as “a clubhouse for the young men
of the parish,” and included alibrary, recreation room, theater, and bowling dleys. The
building has been unoccupied for twenty to thirty years. The grammar school, which
served as arectory for two years, was built in 1901. The building continues to function
asaschool. Thefind building erected on the Site was the rectory, built in 1903.
Annexes joining the rectory to the basilica and to the grammar school were congtructed
concurrently. The rectory continuesto serve its origind purpose, but houses significantly
fewer priests than it once did.

Physical Description

The Ste

The Mission Church complex occupies aroughly rectangular, 162,482 square foot parcel
(approximately 3.73 acres). The basilica faces southwest onto Tremont Street and Sitson
the highest point on the Site. The rectory to its west aso faces Tremont Street. The
grammar school fronts St. Alphonsus Street. The Site drops dramatically towards its
northern boundary, where the convent, the Misson School, and St. Alphonsus Hall are
gtuated fronting Smith Street. An eight-foot puddingstone retaining wall runs from the
eagtern sde of the basilica down the hill towards &. Alphonsus Hal, dividing the
property, and separating the Mission Church complex from the adjacent park and
basabal| field. A wrought iron fence lines the property on both Tremont and St
Alphonsus Street, terminating a the grammar school. The upper campus buildings on the
southern portion of the dte form a“U” around aformally landscaped courtyard. Asphalt
paving provides parking and service areas around the lower campus buildings on the
northern portion of the Site.

TheBadlica

The basilica, located at 1525 Tremont Street, was constructed between 1876 and 1878,
but stood unfinished until 1910 when two 215 foot towers completed the westwork. This
massve, Romanesque Reviva church is congtructed of locally quarried Roxbury
puddingstone and Quincy granite. The traditiona components of a cruciform plan



organize the building and are reflected in its massing: narthex, nave, Sde aides, transept,
and chancel. Interior chapels expand the transept facades, a sacristy space encloses the
gpace between the apse and the western transept. The roof of the nave culminatesin a
digtinctive polygona lantern above the crossing.

The primary (southwest) facade fronting Tremont Street is three bays wide with twin
towers flanking the entry bay, risng well above the main massing of the building. A

flight of seven granite steps with brass handrails, devates the worshiper to the leve of the
sacred space. A concrete ramp faced with puddingstone facilitates disabled access to the
building east of the main entry. Buttresses define the bays of the facade.

The centrd bay, on axis with the dtar, reflects the prominence of its postion. A tripartite
arrangement of Romanesque arches serves as the main entry into the basilica. An
elaboratdly carved tympanum depicting Mary and Jesus surrounded by angels
distinguishes the centra entry. A variation on quatrefoil windows flanked by sl

occuli, and glazed with stained glass pierce the masonry tympanums to either sde of the
main entry. Decorative, wrought iron hinges embelish the board and batten oak entrance
doors. Two quatrefoil transom lights carved into oak panels above each of the secondary
entriesilluminate the narthex. These too are glazed with stained glass. Above the centra
entry, agranite-faced gable capped with asmall granite cross at its apex interrupts the
granite string course that demarcates the second floor of the narthex. A granite blind
arcade that runs the width of the bay rests on the floor-leve stringcourse. Granite crests
flank a recessed rose window that dominates the second story height of the central bay.
A gable pierced by tripartite fenestration, embellished by a corbelled cornice, and at its
apex, asmdl granite cross, crowns the centra bay.

Subordinate to the centrd bay, the facades of the flanking bays are significantly less
embedlished. A sngle, smal Romanesgue arched window trimmed with granite and
framed by dightly recessed, attached, squat columns pierces each ground floor leve.
These windows are glazed with stained glass. At the second story height, each bay
features alarge Romanesgue arched window, trimmed with granite. Recessed from the
wadl plane, two smdler, round arched openings within the larger Romanesgue openings
are divided by an attached column, and surmounted by an oculus.  Leaded, diamond
panes glaze these windows. A small, denticulated course runs beneath the corbeled
cornice on each bay. The fenestration and ornamentation is repeated on dl facades of the
towers.

Ondl four devations, the bell towers fegture granite trimmed oculi, surmounted by
coupled, round arched apertures that are framed and divided by stepped colonettes.
These openings are unglazed and rise nearly the full height of the main massing of the
tower. A corbdled cornice finishes this portion of the towers. A screen of small,
Romanesque arches anchored on each corner with small, panded spires forms the base
for the twin spires that terminate the height of the building. Each spireis capped with a
smadl, granite cross.



The six bays of the east and west facades are punctuated by five smdl granite and
puddingstone buttresses. A shed roof distinguishes the Sde aides from the nave. Unlike
the main facade, granite trim, though present, does not dominate the expression of these
surfaces, Sgnaling the hierarchica arrangement of the building. The color and texture of
these secondary facades derive from the puddingstone from which they are constructed.
The lower church space at the ground floor leve is entered on either Sde through two
doors, and lit by apair of windows;, dl are trimmed with granite. An unadorned flat
headed entry islocated off center in the third bay. The pair of round headed windows
lights the ground floor level of the fourth bay. An ornate entry is centered on thefifth
bay of the east facade; clunky, granite pilasters frame the door, which is capped by a
shdlow gable with alarge cross forming the keystone; five quatrefail lights (one replaced
by avent) form the transom above paneled double doors. The entries on the opposite
fagade are trimmed with granite and exhibit the same transom:-lit paneled doors, but are
not otherwise distinguished. Lighting the Sde aides of the church, dightly pointed,
granite-trimmed arches frame two recessed round arched apertures surmounted by a
quatrefoil window and two smdl ocului. These windows are glazed with stained glass,
A granite, bracketed cornice terminatesthislevel. The fenedtration and cornice of the
clerestory mirrors the arrangement of the Sde aides. These dso are glazed with stained
glass.

The transept facades recal the centrd bay of the main facade with large, rose windows
and smdll, granite crosses at the gpexes of the gabled roofs. A divided, granite-trimmed,
round arched window piercesthe gable. Centra polygona bays demarcate a chape
gpace on the eastern transept facade, and the Shrine of Our Lady of Perpetual Help on the
western transept fagade. The chapd walls are blank but for lancet windows glazed with
gtained glass closest to the wall of the transept; two stained glass windows light the
Shrine. The south walls of each transept provide secondary entry into the main levd of
the building, which is reached by an L-shaped flight of stairs. Sightly pointed granite-
trimmed arches frame each door. The recessed masonry tympanums mirror the Sde aide
and clerestory fenedtration with quatrefoil windows flanked by smadl oculi. The upper
pandls of the double oak doors are glazed with stained glass, the oak trim forming a cross
where the doors meet. A granite stringcourse demarcates the clerestory. Two windows,
identical to those on the Sde facades light the clerestory of the transept.

In typica Romanesque fashion, the apseis clearly articulated on the exterior of the
building. The semicircular form is defined by three buttresses. A granite stringcourse
diginguishes the floor height of the main body of the church from the lower church level.
A granite-trimmed entry pierces the easternmost bay of the gpse. All other wdls are
blank. A demi conica roof caps the apse just benegth the main roofline of the nave.

Adjoining the apse to the west, a three sory structure (including basement) origindly
contained quarters for the sacristy and the library of the priesthood. Five buttresses
define the four bays of the building. A granite stringcourse marks the ground floor leve.
A sngle round arched entry trimmed with granite pierces the easternmost bay of this
level. Coupled, round arched windows trimmed with granite light the adjacent bays of
the ground floor, sacristy, and library levels. The fourth bay isunlit. A bracketed cornice



completes the facade. A pitched roof with awest-facing gable end covers the building.
The western fagade of this annex istwo bays wide, with buttresses defining the bays. A
granite sringcourse marks the first floor level. The ground floor leve of the north bay
features two granite-trimmed arched entries adjacent to the edge and center buttresses.
The tympanum of the north entry is granite, with asmall, paneled door benegth it. The
southern door is aso paneled, but with a quatrefail light in its tympanum. A trio of

arched windows with one over one replacement sash light the basement leve of the
southern bay. The arrangement is set within granitefacing. A pair of arched, sx over six
windows trimmed with granite and joined by granite spandrels light both bays of the first
floor level. Paired, arched, four over four granite trimmed windows light both bays of the
second story. A bracketed cornice sits below the hip roof, which features a cupola topped
with a cross on its northern corner.

Didinguished from the rest of the building by itslight color, an octagond, cupola-topped
lantern rises 110 feet above the crossng. Cinquefoil apertures light the base of the
polygona drum. The steeply- pitched ribbed roof supports the polygona lantern, which is
lit on each face of its base, and topped with a cross.

The Annex between the Basilica and the Rectory

Continuing west dong Tremont Street, a Six-bay, two story annex joins the basilicato the
rectory. The annex was congtructed simultaneoudy with the rectory in1903. Rough
granite forms the base of the annex, and puddingstone forms the upper sory. The lower
gtory ispierced by apair of flat heeded windows in the third bay, and by a ssgmentd
arched passage in the fifth bay that leads to the courtyard and the lower campus of the
gte. Entry into the annex is at the second story level through the second bay of the
building. Thisbay protrudes to form asmal entry pavilion lit by paired, round arched
windows on the upper story of its side facades, and by asingle, off center, flat headed
sash window at the basement level. A flight of ten steps framed by puddingstone walls
leadsto the door. A granite-trimmed, compass head arch frames the recessed entry. The
tympanum, side lights and upper portion of the paneled door are glazed. Coupled
compass head windows divided by engaged columns, featuring blind panels above the
sash characterize the fenedtration of the remaining five bays. The granite trim

surrounding the apertures forms a pointed arch. Granite lintd and Sl courses, in addition
to stringcourses at the midpoint of the sash stripe the facade. A panded puddingstone
cornice terminates the fagade. A wrought iron fence set onto alow, puddingstone wall
frames the annex.

The Rectory
Congtructed in 1903, the rectory is located west of the annex at 1545 Tremont Street.

Nine bays plus polygond corner bays organize the Tremont Street facade, while the
secondary facade on &. Alphonsus Street measures just seven bays, thus differentiating
the primary facade of a building Stuated on a corner lot. Pandled brick and limestone
pilasters differentiate the bays on dl facades. The four-<ory building, induding
basement, follows an L-shaped plan. The rectory exhibits characteristics of Queen
Anne/Victorian Gothic-inspired architecture. Most emblemeatic of this stylistic derivation
is the polychromeatic expression of the facades. Though the building is composed chiefly



of red brick, limestone trim and basement level granite facing highlight fenestration,
articulate bays, and define an daborate cornice. This decorative treatment is most
concentrated around the projecting, centra entrance bay of the main facade. A gable
front rising above the mass of the building further digtinguishes this prominent bay. The
founder of the Redemptorist order, St. Alphonsus, is celebrated at thisheight in a
limestone-trimmed niche at the center of the gable. Two acorn finids at itsSde, and a
cross a its apex frame the gable. Entry to the building is through an eight- paneled oak
door in the centrd projecting bay.

While the decorative emphasis of the projecting centra pavilion and strong granite
divisons of bays lend the building a gtriking verticdity, grouped fenestration highlighted
by granite lintels and sills and granite stringcourses assart aless dominant but no less
ggnificant horizontdity. Variety in the fenestration enlivens the facade. Reflecting both
the conglomeration of architecturd styles affiliated with high Victorian Gothic-inspired
architecture and a differentiated hierarchy of space, the building' s fenestration makes
multiple stylistic gestures. Basement leve paired gpertures are smple, rectangular
openings, first and second floor paired gpertures were modeled on the Gothic pointed
arch, while the third floor trios of openings reflect the rounded arches associated with the
Romanesgue. All of these openings festure one over one replacement sash.

A smadl portion of the eastern fagade of the rectory isvisible from the street. This
elevation is two bays wide and features identical decorative treatment. Only second and
third story apertures are visible above the annex that joins the basilica to the rectory.
Their forms mirror those a the same levels on the Tremont Street facade. A single
window appears in the southern bay at the second floor level, while apair of windows
piercein the northern bay. A pair of arched windows light both bays of the third story.

Also fronting a public way, the secondary fagade of this corner building on St. Alphonsus
Street recaeived equal consideration. Elaborate window surrounds, a corbelling pattern
beneath the cornice, and decorative € ements contribute to the formdity of this secondary
facade. The northernmost three bays and the basement and first floor levels of the
remaining four bays mirror the fenestration pattern of the main fagade. The second and
third story levels of the remaining bays, however, bresk the pattern with sngle, double-
height windows, joined by alintelcourse (the sl course for the third story of the northern
three bays), and capped by awide, granite, compass head arch. Granite diamondsfill the
space between the top of these apertures and the cornice. This pattern continues around
the polygonal corner bay to the westernmost bay of the Tremont Street facade.

The Annex between the Rectory and the Grammar School

A two gtory, five bay, brick annex joins the grammar school to the rectory. A high,
granitewall obscuresthefirgt story of the annex from view. Two over two, flat headed
windows with splayed granite slis and lintels pierce the fagade of the annex a regular
intervals. A small, blind arcade defines the cornice.




The Grammar School

The grammar school, located north of the rectory on the upper campus at 100 S.
Alphonsus Street, was built in 1901. The twelve-bay wide, four bay deep grammar
school is congtructed of red brick, isrectangular in plan, and rises three stories above its
basement. Significantly lessforma than the other buildingsin the complex, the grammar
school exhibits very little traditiond architecturd ornament. An above-ground
puddingstone-faced basement defines the ground level of the Street facade.

Double-hung, sx-over-sx duminum sash light the interior of the upper floors. Fixed
sash divided into six lights define the basement fenedtration. Hat-headed, splayed,
puddingstone lintels and sills on the main leve apertures project dightly from the facade,
varying the texture of the brick surface. An intricate brickwork cornice further breaks up
the planar surfaces of the facades.

Entry into the building is on the north fagade, facing the convent. Unlike the Street

facade, the entire entry fagcade, including the ground floor, is faced with brick. The
fenedtration pattern of the westernmost bay does not dign with the eastern three bays.
Where the apertures of eastern three bays reflect actud floor heights, those in the western
bay punctuate haf stories, likdy indicating an interior Sair. The treatment of the
windows however, isiderticd. All openings feature Six over six, double hung sash with
flat heeded, played granite lintels and silis that project dightly from the facade. Entry is
through a door in the third bay of the ground level.

A service road leading to a parking area, the power plant, convent, Mission School, and
. Alphonsus Hall separates the grammar school from the adjacent convent.

The Courtyard
The rectory and grammar school frame two sides of aformaly landscaped courtyard on

the upper campus. A high, granite wal with bluestone coping forms the eastern

boundary, and the northern boundary, once open, is presently enclosed by achain link
fence resting on ground-level bluestone capstones.  The courtyard shelters its occupants
from Tremont and St. Alphonsus streets, while retaining views to the lower campus,
providing a peaceful outdoor space for contemplation and dlowing supervison of the
other properties on the site. Concrete footpaths lead to afountain displaying the Virgin
Mary (alater addition) at the center of the courtyard, and mature trees shade the grounds.
A cod shute set within a bluestone dab is located adjacent to the granite wall, roughly at
its midpoint.

The courtyard is formally organized. A continuous footpath defines the rectangular outer
boundary; axid footpaths lead from the midpoint of each sde of the rectangle to the
center of the courtyard, while dightly curved footpaths radiate diagondly from the
central fountain to the short ends of the rectangle. In generd, the scale of the plantings
increases with distance from the center; shrubs are clustered around the fountain,
ornamenta trees are concentrated just beyond this inner ring, and shade trees grow near
the edges of the space. Six Norway Maples line the northern edge of the courtyard just
beyond the chain link fence.



Two gated openings in the high, granite wall provide entry into the courtyard, as do
exterior doors of the rectory and grammar school. A flight of enclosed granite stairs with
granite capstones at the northern end connect the courtyard to the lower campus. Granite
blocks with flora and ecclesasticd decordtive relief frame the sairs looking up to the
courtyard from the lower campus.

The Convent

The convent, located north of the grammar school a 100 Smith Street, was built in 1889.
It is the western-mogt building on Smith Street, the defining boundary of the site's lower
campus. The convent is congtructed chiefly of red brick with granitetrim. A three story,
three bay projecting main block with one bay by twelve bay wings forms the main (Smith
Street) facade. Asthe second story cornice line attests, the third story of the main block
and the frame roof terraces atop the wings followed the original congtruction. This
addition occurred in 1901.

Two story, paneled brick pilagters flank the centra entry and organize the main
projecting block around the centra bay. Tal, four over four, double-hung, coupled
windows are centered on the bays adjacent to the centrd bay. Granite lintels highlight
thefirgt story fenestration, jack arches cap second story fenestration, and the third story
fenedtration Sits beneath compass head arches with blind pandls. A single, centered
window, identica to those on their respective tories, defines the fenestration of the
central bay on the second and third Stories. Entrance into the central bay is benesth a
compass head arch, with terra cotta ornament embelishing its tympanum. A (broken)
divided transom light fills the space between the tympanum and the double, three paneled
doors. A flight of seven granite steps leads to this entry.

The one bay wingsto either sde of the main block maintain the symmetrica organization

of the centra block. Two story paneled brick pilasters mark the outer edges of each
wing. Single windowsidentica to those on the fagade of the main block are centered on
the wing facades. Those on thefirst story are set beneath segmenta arches, while jack
arches frame the second story apertures. The roof terraces at the third story leve rise to
the springing line of the compass head arches on the third story of the main block.

Paneled, square framing members at the corners and center of each wing are joined & the
bottom by aframe baustrade, and at the top by a frame cornice to form the open terraces.

Angled brick courses embellish the surface of the building above and benegth the first
and second gory fenedtration. A wide limestone bel tcourse above the basement level
adds a further horizontal emphasis to the facade.

Three blocks define the massing of the St. Alphonsus Street facade of the convent. The
limestone beltcourse that delinestes the basement level on the Smith Street facade,
extends across the St. Alphonsus Street facade. Angled brick lintel and sill courses on the
first and second stories stripe the entire St. Alphonsus Street eevation.
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Paneled brick pilasters frame the three bays of the northernmost block of the convent. A
dightly projecting central bay organizes the fagade of this block. Flanking the centra
projection, coupled, flat headed, four over four wood sash windows light the first and
second stories. Angled brick pandls adorn the surface benegth the first floor openings.
Granite lintels highlight this fenestration. Small, terracotta rosettes gppear just above the
lintels. Brick relieving arches above the firgt floor windows support the weight of the
second ory. Granite dlis highlight the second story fenestration. The centra bay is
pierced by single, four over four, wood sash windows on the first and second stories. A
denticulated brick cornice caps the building. The frame roof terrace extends the length of
the block. The masonry wall that extends to the roof terrace at the third floor leve of the
main block is pierced with four over four arched windows that aign with the apertures on
the lower stories.

Six bays organize the center block of the St. Alphonsus Street fagcade. Unlike the
northernmost block, the centrd block rises three fully enclosed stories. Thefirst and
second story fenedtration is characterized by flat headed windows with granite sills. The
second bay of thefirst floor level is not pierced by an opening. Thethird story
fenedtration departs from the lower stories with compass head arched windows with blind
panels, modeled after those on the Smith Street fagade. The first story windows festure
gx over sx lights and the second and third, four over four. Angled brick linte and sl
courses gripe the third story as they do on the lower stories. A corbeled, granite
gringcourse a the cornice level of the northernmost bay divides the second and third
dories.

The fina block of the St. Alphonsus Street facade is just three bays wide. It projects
dightly from the surface of its neighboring block. While the fenedtration of the third story
isidenticd to the centra block, the first story fenestration includes two large, compass
head arched windows on the first and third bays. These windows are subdivided into two
smdler glazed arches with five lights each, surmounted by an oculus. Wood tracery
organizes the arrangement. A brick extrados highlights each opening. Thefirgt and third
bays of the second story mirror those on the central block. The central opening, however,
features adoor that opens onto a cast iron bacony. A three-light transom further lights
the entry.

The eastern fagade of the convent differs from the St. Alphonsus Street elevation. Paired
windows highlighted by segmental arches on the first story and jack arches on the second
gory light the firgt bay of the northernmost block. The central bay of this block features
a secondary entry of two panded doors benegth a granite lintel reached by aflight of
geps. An ornate terracotta panel embellishes the surface directly above this entry.
Single, ssgmentd arched, double hung, leaded stained glass windows pierce the half

story between the second and third floors, as well asthe third Sory of thisbay. A
polygond bay lit by two stained glass windows protrudes from the first story of the third
bay. The paired windows on the second story of this third bay mirror those on the St.
Alphonsus Street facade. Where the frame roof terrace extends the full length of the first
block on St. Alphonsus Street, the roof terrace on the eastern elevation is divide by an
enclosed, fenestrated, third story of the centra bay. The frame terrace extends the full
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length of the third bay on the other side of thisenclosure. Two, four over four arched
windows dign with the openings below on the third story of this bay.

The second block of the eastern facade aso differs from its counterpart on St. Alphonsus
Street. Except for the northernmost bay, which is recessed, the masonry wall aignswith
the main, three bay block of the Smith Street fagade. While this block risesto thefull
three story height, a two story frame porch supported by square columnsis affixed to the
exterior wall. The fenedtration pattern isirregular, though it references the fenestration of
other parts of the building. A round-arched entry festures adivided light tympanum and
transom, and apair of panel oak doorsin the southernmost bay of the first floor. Small,
flat headed two over two windows with granite silIs step up from south to north on the
first and second stories of the successive bays. A second entry, featuring a six-light
transom, is located in the fourth bay of the first floor, followed by asix over sx double
hung window with agranite sill in thefifth bay. Above the main entry, asix over sx flat
headed window with a granite silI pierces the second story. A pair of identica windows
appear directly above the second entrance on thisfloor. The southernmost bay of the
third story is pierced by athird entry surrounded by sddights and atransom. A single
two over two, double hung window identica to those on the first and second Stories,
appears in the second bay of the third floor. A pair of round, four over four, arched
windows with blank panels mirroring those on the St. Alphonsus Street facade light the
northern bays of the third story.

The arrangement of the upper stories of the southernmost block isidentical to the St.
Alphonsus Street dlevation. The blank central bay of the first floor, however, protrudes
dightly from the facade. The protrusion is capped with a copper, shallow gable roof; a
amdl copper cross appears at the gpex of theroof. No windows light the flanking bays of
this block.

Facing the main entrance to the grammar school, the southern devation of the convent is
sx bayswide and three stories high. Entry is through the westernmost bay through a
double, panded door beneeth a glazed tympanum. The tympanum and fenestration of the
four succeeding bays mirror the first floor gpertures with wood tracery on the southern
block of the St. Alphonsus Street fagade. The sixth bay of thisfloor islit by asngle
arched window divided into three lights. The fenedtration of the second and third stories
follow that on the second and third floors of the St. Alphonsus Street facade with Sx over
Sx double hung sash benesath jack arches on the second story and four over four round
arches on the third story. The brick and granite courses that appear on the Smith Street
and . Alphonsus Street facades continue around the corner and stripe this southern
eevation.

A brick wall with granite coping separates the convent from the Mission School to the
east.

The Mission School
The Mission School, located a 90 Smith Street, was built in 1889, concurrently with the
convent to itswest. The main block is twelve bays wide and four stories high, with atwo




bay by two bay projecting central entrance and stair pavilion, and two bay by two bay
dair towers centered on the laterd facades. A Roxbury puddingstone foundation
supports the upper stories which are composed of red brick with limestone trim.
Puddingstone pilagters at the basement level, and paneled brick pilasters on the main
levels organize the Smith Street facade. These vertica eements divide the ten bays of the
main block into groups of two and three. They dso adorn the facade of the entrance
pavilion, supporting a gable roof. Limestone stringcourses interrupt the pilasters at each
floor level. Limestone lintd courses do not interrupt the brick pilasters, but are
themsalves broken by the fenestration. Double hung, compass head-arched, nine over
nine curved sash light the basement level. Double hung, Sx over sx sash light the upper
gories of the main block. Limestone segmentd arches frame the gpertures on the first
and second stories, while jack arches cap those on the third story. The fenestration of the
Smith Street facades of the Sair towersisidentical to that on the main eevation.

The arrangement of the entrance pavilion mirrors the main block on its perpendicular
elevations, except the three northernmost openings have been filled with brick courang
on ether sde. The main facade, however, differsdightly. Thefirgt floor lintel course of
the main block isthe only horizontal ornament to continue across the projecting fagade.
The pilagters are interrupted by the floor-leve stringcourses of the main block, but this
limestone ornament does not extend beyond the pilasters. Lintd courses highlight the
second and third leve fenestration on this bay, but these, too, terminate at the pilasters.
Angled brick panels adorn the gable and the space between the second and third level
fenedration.

To accommodate the Saircase, the fenestration of the pavilion fagade does not align with
the rest of the building’ s apertures. Two compass head arched entries pierce the
puddingstone foundation. Three, small, compass head arched windows with curved two
over two sash rest on the firgt floor stringcourse above these entries. Two, SX over SX
segmental arched windows rest on thefirst floor lintel course. Anidentica pair of
openings share a gl directly above these gpertures at the level of the second story lintel
course. An arrangement of three, smal compass head arches just below the gable
reference the trio of openings above the entries, but here, a niche displaying a satue of
the Virgin Mary isflanked by two over two glazed openings. Limestone trim adorns dl
fenedtration. The fenedtration of the lateral facades of the flanking stair towers mirrors
that of main entry pavilion, with a center window in lieu of the Virgin Mary a third story
leve.

An additiond indication of the schoal’ s affiliation with the church, brick posts joined by
wrought-iron fencing incorporate buff colored brick crosses. An asphalt courtyard
surrounds the school, and alow wrought iron guard rail boarders the excavated basement
leve.

The Boiler House

A one and a haf story brick boiler house is connected to the rear of the Mission School.
It is centrally postioned and projects four bays from the school and three bays across. A
brick smokestack attached to the western wall of the boiler house rises above the height
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of the Misson School. Multiple vents and two hip roofed skylights, fourteen lightsin
length, interrupt the otherwise flat roof.

Formd entry into the boiler house is through the three bay southern facade that faces the
courtyard. This devation rises dightly above the main massng of the building.
Brownstone pilagters frame the edges. Double height, round arched windows flank a
large, round arched entry with double paneled doors, and light southern ends of the
eastern and western facades. A brownstone cornice terminates the southern eevation

Entry is dso provided through the eastern and western facades of the boiler house & the
upper level. These entrances are reached by flights of cast iron gairs. Small windows
flank these entries a both levels. Fenestration and entrances festure brownstone
quoining on dl devations.

. Alphonsus Hall

. Alphonsus Hal, located east of the Mission School a 80 Smith Street, was built in
1898. Three rectangular, two story blocks define the building’s massing. The entry
block, fronting Smith Street, and the block directly to its rear, containing the auditorium,
rest on a high basement. The roofline of the auditorium dts dightly above that of the
entry block and is more steeply pitched. The third block, containing the stage and back
stage areas, abuts the proscenium. The massing of this block does not dign with the other
two blocks. Rather, the building extends one bay east and west of the main massing of
the building. Theroofline of this block sits below those of the other two, and is
shdlowly pitched.

Designed to be fireproof, wood was used sparingly in the building’s construction.
Instead, Roxbury puddingstone with yellow brick trim around apertures and on the
corners of the building was employed. The primary fagade is three bays wide and
symmetrically organized around a central entrance. Pandled brick pilasters define the
bays, each of which contains three windows. The tripartite arched entry is recessed
behind awide Romanesque arch. Slender colonettes support the trio of archesin the
entry. A stone plague above the entry reads, “ St. Alphonsus Hall.” The fenestration of
the centra bay mirrors the tripartite arrangement of the entry with three, Romanesgue
arched openings; the six over six sash and tympanums are dightly recessed from the
facade. A masonry screen in the pediment over the centrd bay lends further layered
complexity to the building' s fagade. The basement and first floor fenestration of the two
bays flanking the centra bay feature jack arches, while the second story fenestration is
identicd to that of the central bay. Colonette clusters extend from the silis of the first
floor gpertures to the arches of the second floor openings, joining the arrangements and
enhancing the layering of the facade. A corbelled brick cornice contributes further
dimengondlity to the building.

The northern block of St. Alphonsus Hall extends six baysin depth. Thefirst four bays

on the east and west facades of this block are marked by single, recessed windows at each
floor level. The basement and firgt floor fenestration exhibit segmenta arches, while the
third floor fenedtration is capped with compass head arches. A corbeled brick extrados
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highlights each of these arches. The last two bays of these facades differ from the
preceding four with apair of compass head arched windows, identica to the second story
fenestration, located half way between the first and second stories. A large, arched
opening beneath these windows provides secondary entry to the ground floor level of the
western eevation.

To accommodate the auditorium, the fenestration pattern of the east and west facades of
the centrd block of the building differs from the arrangement of the northern block,
though the surface trestment is identica, with yellow brick highlighting the openings

On the eastern eevation, four double height compass head arched windows light the first
and second stories. The center two openings are dightly higher than those to either Side,
and the whole arrangement is off center, with the windows concentrated to the south. A
sngle segmenta arched window Sits benesth each compass head window. Theslis of
these openings step down in height from north to south on the fagade. One basement
window pierces an otherwise blank bay, closest to the northern block of the building.
The fenedtration of the western facade is also concentrated to the south of the eevation.
Just three bays are pierced with compass head arched windows at the second story level.
The arch of the northernmaost window sits below the other two. Three segmenta arched
windows light the first story. The glis of these openings step down from north to south
onthe facade. Three basement level windows aso feature segmentd arches. Thelintels
of these openings step down from north to south.

The fenedtration of the rear block of St. Alphonsus hal gppears to have been patialy
dtered. A doorway delineated by a corbeled dope pierces the single bay that extends
east and west of the auditorium block. A single segmentd arched window directly above
each door lights the upper story. The eastern eevation is three bays wide, with apertures
concentrated on the southern portion of the facade. Three segmenta arched openings on
the basement and first floor levels, and three jack arched openings on the second story
define the fenedtration. A granite stringcourse that runs across dl three facades of the
block interrupts the second story fenestration. The fenestration of the western elevation
of thisblock lights the same three bays as the eastern devetion. The basement level
openings mirror the openings on the opposite devation. The slis of the first floor
openings step down from north to south. The southernmost sill appears to have been
origindly aigned with that of the centrd window. The segmental arches of the center

and southern windows St below the northern window. The center window is narrower
than the flanking two. The second story openings mirror the arrangement of those on the
firat floor, except the dll of the southern window aigns with that of the center window.
All three of these openings are flat headed. The rear elevation is pierced by two pairs of
flat headed windows at either end of the second tory leve, followed by asingle identical
window closer to the center.

Ventilators on brick piers with concave-curved roofs mark the corners of auditorium
block. The cornice and the downspouts are copper.

A City of Boston basebdll fidld liesto the east of the hall beyond a chain link fence.
Further south, a puddingstone wall defines the eastern edge of the Redemptorist’s
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property. It continues past the basilica towards Tremont Street. One small section the
wall has gpparently been repaired with concrete.
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2.3 Photographs

The badilicafrom Tremont Street, with the Misson Hill branch of the Boston Public Library
in the foreground
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East fagade of the bagilica

East and north facades of the basilica with the east fagade of St. Alphonsus Hall
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View of the baslicaand adjacent rectory from Tremont Street
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The rectory building from the corner of Tremont Street and St. Alphonsus Street
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View of the Mission Church Grammar School from S. Alphonsus Street
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Smith Street streetscape showing St. Alphonsus Hall, the Mission School, and the convent
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Front facade of the convent building (Smith Street)



Yaview of the convent building from Smith Street

View of the Mission School from Smith Street



S. Alphonsus Hal from Smith Street, with the rear of the basilicalin the background
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The Datchet House, before it was torn down in 1903 for the new rectory building



View of Misson Hill and Back Bay shortly after the congtruction of the Mission Church

Historic view of the church before the towers and the rectory were constructed



View of Tremont Street and the Mission Church from 1890
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Billboard advertisng “Pilate’ s Daughter”, performed at . Alphonsus Hall



Bowling dley and billiard tablesin . Alphonsus Hall



Aerid view of the Misson Church complex (outlined in black) in the context of Huntington
Avenue and Misson Hill
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SIGNIFICANCE

The Mission Church complex merits the highest recognition. It is significant &t the locd,
date, regiond, and nationd levels. The complex is one of few completely intact
examples of its kind. While Catholic parishes were congtructed throughout Boston during
the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries, only St. Columbkille€ sin Brighton and
St Joseph’ sin Roxbury developed complexes that approached the scale of the Mission
Church complex. Further distinguishing the Site, the church is one of just fifty-three
recognized basilicas in the United States, and the oldest of three basilicasin
Massachusetts. The architectura significance of the complex derives aso from the
architects who designed its buildings, al of whom produced distinguished ecclesagtica
works. The complex achieves equdly great socid significance, asit has served as the
center of the Misson Hill neighborhood since the Redemptorists arrived in Boston in
1869. Y et, the complex’s prominence extends beyond its physical presence. Thousands
have sought education, companionship, spiritudity, guidance, and comfort within its
confines.

Historic Significance

Roman Catholicism in Boston

Though celebrated in textbooks for its Puritan heritage, the city of Boston has been
shaped by the Roman Catholic Church since the late eighteenth century. A law passed by
the Massachusetts General Court in June of 1700 prohibited Catholic priests from
resding in Massachusetts, promising life imprisonment to those who attempted. Before
the close of the century, however, the first Catholic mass was celebrated (on November 2,
1788, on School Street), and a ste for the first Catholic church in the city was secured.
By 1803, Charles Bulfinch, the eminent Boston architect who designed such culturdly
prominent buildings as the Massachuseits State House, the enlargemernt of Faneuil Hall,
aswdl as homesfor the socidly distinguished Harrison Gray Otis, designed and built
Holy Cross Church on Franklin Street. This sgnificant marker of early Catholiciamin
Boston no longer stands, making St. Patrick’ s Church in Newcastle, Maine, of 1808, the
oldest Cathoalic church remaining in New England.

Following the American Revolution, immigration from European countries with strong
Catholic heritages began to reduce the Protestant stronghold in Boston.  Importing their
fath, these immigrants greetly increased the Catholic demographic of the city. By the

end of the first decade of the nineteenth century, the number of Catholicsin Boston
justified the ppointment of abishop. On April 4™, 1808, Jean Lefebvre de Cheverus was
named the first Catholic bishop of Baoston, an event that marked remarkable progress for
ardigion that, only decades earlier, was grictly forbidden in the colony of

Massachusetts.

Catholicism in Boston gained increasing momentum in the decades following the

appointment of Bishop Lefebvre de Cheverus. The end of the War of 1812 precipitated a
building boom in Boston in the 1820s. This condruction activity employed numerous
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Irish immigrants, greetly expanding the Catholic population. The Irish Potato Famine of
the 1840s dso contributed to the increasing Catholic population in the city. 1846 saw the
congiruction of St. Joseph's, the first Catholic church in Roxbury. By 1874, the Catholic
population had so escalated that Boston was named an Archdiocese.

The Redemptorist Order Arrivesin Boston

Lawyer and theologian, Alphonsus Liguori (1696-1787), founded the Redemptorist Order
in Naples, Italy, in 1732. Concerned that the Catholic Church was not devoted enough to
the Virgin Mary, Ligouri wrote a book intended to restore Mary to what he considered
her proper place in the Church. The Glories of Mary, published in 1750, inspired further
sudy of Mary’slife and her sgnificance to the faith. Declared “ venerable’ in 1796 and
bestified in 1816, Ligouri was cannonized as Saint Alphonsus. In 1781, he was declared a
“Doctor of the Church” for his achievements asamora theologian.

The assertions in the Glories of Mary were embraced around the world, most notably by
German Catholics. Thefirst overseas misson of the Redemptorists was launched from
Vienna, Audtria, in 1832. Members of the order administered to the poor and thesick in
German communitiesin northern Ohio, among other communities in the upper Midwest.
In 1839, under the stewardship of Superior of the Redemptorists, Fr. Joseph Prost, the
firgt permanent Redemptorist church was established in an old factory building in
Pittsburgh. Thirty yearslater, in 1869, Bishop Williamsinvited the Redemptorists to
Bogton. Their firsd misson was a . James Church on Albany Street in the South End.

On September 25, 1869, the Redemptorists purchased five acres of land on Parker Hill
for $75,000, and began an association with the neighborhood that laststo thisday. Parker
Hill, named for the wedthy Boston merchant, John Parker, who occupied the summit of
the hill during the eighteenth century, was unevenly developed when the Redemptorists
arived. Some farms and country estates from the elghteenth and early nineteenth
centuries remained on main thoroughfares. Early nineteenth century development had
spread over portions of the lower dope of the hill spawned by the breweries and mills

that lined the Stony Brook. Suburban development beginning in the mid nineteenth
century resulted in severd houses Sted on large lots dong Parker Hill Avenue and

Hillsde Street. The area around the Redemptorists five acre parcel accommodated a few
modestly scaled houses as well as smdl-scale puddingstone and frame workers rows, but
was sgnificantly less developed than the lower dope at the time of the Redeptorists
ariva.

With the Redemptorists five acre parcel came a house, roughly on the Site of the rectory,
whose originslay in the first quarter of the eghteenth century. In 1723, Colond Francis
Brinley condructed Datchet House, known locdly as“Brinley Place,” in memory of his
ancestra home in England. The Colond died in 1765 and Robert Pierpont purchased the
housein 1773. A wedthy merchant, Pierpont enlarged and enriched the house to such a
degree that it became known as Pierpont’s Cadlle.

The property remained in the Pierpont family until October 1802, when it was purchased
by Harrison Gray Otis, the son of James Otis, one of the Sons of Liberty and akey figure
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in the American Revolution. The house wes later the home of General Henry Dearborn,
veteran of the battles of Bunker Hill, Quebec, Saratoga, and Monmouth during the
Revolutionary War, and the War of 1812, and his son, Generd Henry Alexander
Dearborn. Thefirst Generd Dearborn was buried on the Site of the present Misson
Church when he died in 1829; his remains were relocated to Forest Hills Cemetery when
the new Misson Church was built nearly fifty yearslater. The second Genera Dearborn
became a gentleman horticulturist and one of the founders of the Massachusetts
Horticultura Society. He planted eaborate gardens at the house, and cultivated trees that
were |ater transplanted in Mount Auburn Cemetery in Cambridge, and Forest Hills
Cemetery in Jamaica Plain, two landscapes he designed.  The next owner was Samud
Lewis, manager of the Cunard Steamship Line. The building passed through two further
owners, beforeitsfind conversion into Franklin Gardens, a popular hostelry, in 1866.

The Redemptorist Fathers acquired the former Datchet house in 1870, converted it into a
convent, and built asmal wooden church adjacent to it on their newly acquired site. The
first member of the Order moved into the house on January 14, 1871, and performed a
meass in the new church fifteen days later. Considered a*“mission church,” only some
Catholic rites were performed in the frame structure. The Redemptorists conducted an
itinerant ministry throughout metropolitan Baston. In May of 1871, the Redemptorists
hung a gift from Pope Pius I X, an image of Our Lady of Perpetud Help, for whom the
church was named, and to whom numerous miracles would be attributed, above the main
dtar of the church.

Within five years of its congtruction, the smdl frame building could not accommodate the
crowds of worshipers who came to the church. The cornerstone for alarger worship
gpace was laid on May 28, 1876, the same day that the rectory suffered amgjor fire. The
Redemptorigt Fathers continued to use the wing of the building that survived the fire until
1903, when they demolished it to make way for congtruction of the present rectory. Less
than two years after the laying of the cornerstone of the basilica, on April 7, 1878, the
new church was dedicated. On April 6, 1883, the Archdiocese of Boston bestowed the
status of afull parish church on Our Lady of Perpetua Help.

The Expansion of Mission Church

The prosperity of the Misson Church is documented in the physica expangion of its
facilities. Drawing upon historica precedents, the Redemptorigts built a self-sufficent
complex that served the educationd, spiritua, and recrestiond needs of the parish. The
convent and Mission School were congtructed in 1889. St. Alphonsus Hdl followed in
1898, the Grammar School in 1901, and the permanent rectory in 1903.

The Misson School and Grammar School provided a Catholic education unattainable in
public schools. The convent housed the Sisters of Notre Dame, who ingtructed the
students. The rectory served the priests and brothers who administered to the parish. S.
Alphonsus Hal, named for the founder of the Redemptorist order, provided social spaces
in which to congregate. It contained alibrary, gymnasium, pool hal, bowling aleys, and
atheater/auditorium. An annua production of the passion play, “Pilate’ s Daughter,” was
performed during the Easter season in the auditorium. The Redemptorists promoted the



production as America s oldest passion play. The dedication of the hall herdded the
following praise from the Boston Pilot:

“It [the hdl] completes one of the finest groups of church buildings in the country
— church, schoolhouse, convent, dl consstent and beautiful ...”

In addition to the activities specificaly associated with the buildings, the parish dso
sponsored numerous socid and recreationd activities, including a band, Catholic Y outh
Organization sporting events, a boathouse on the Charles River, and socia gatherings.

The reputation, prosperity, and expansion of the Misson Hill complex, in turn, spurred
the growth of itsenvirons. Parker Hill became attractive to Catholic immigrants, namely
German families who owned and worked in the breweries along the Stony Brook River,
and Irish [aborers, simulaing much of the dense, multi-family development of Parker
Hill that occurred in the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries.

The Our Lady of Perpetual Help Shrine

“The Roxbury Misson Church is famous throughout the United
States, not only for the impressiveness of its services and the
beauty of its architecture and the eoquence and the missonary
zed of the priests who comprise its community, but for the
marveloudy complete solution of sociologicd problems that, for
more than a quater of a century, has been worked out
successtully beneath the shadow of its walls .... Given in a angle
sentence, a congregation of 10,000 people is cared for and
guided in dl its intereds of life, tempord as wdl as piritud,
from earliest youth to old age and the earthly end. Every stage of
exigence, every condition of life, has its gpecid minigration,
until there has grown up about the Misson Church one of the
mogt fathful and gppreciaive populations to be found in dl the
world.”

These words gppeared in, “Hegps of Crutches Left at Altar by Afflicted,” in the Boston
American General Newson March 28, 1909. Just forty years after they had been invited
to Boston, the Redemptorists working at the Mission Church complex had amaor socia
impact on the city. The church’s reputation owed much to the wide range of activities

and services that engaged the parish and the Misson Hill community, but aso to the
miracles attributed to the shrine to Our Lady of Perpetua Help.

The Sacred Image of Our Lady of Perpetua Help, aduplicate of the painting in the

Church of Saint Alphonsusin Rome, has been attributed with countless miraculous cures.
Shortly after the painting was enshrined in the Misson Church in May of 1871, ayoung

girl with an ankle injury was reportedly heded after her mother offered a novena. So

many incidents of this nature were reported that the new church became known asthe
“Home of Wonders.” Between 1878, when the church opened, and 1884, over 330 cures
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were documented. The most famous of these reportedly occurred in 1883, when ayoung
child who had been badly injured in afdl miracuoudy waked out of church unaided
after years of suffering. Nationd publicity broadcasted the event, solidifying the
reputetion of the shrine at the Misson Church.

The Mission Church isDeclared a Minor Basilica

The Mission Church achieves sgnificance beyond its association with the complex and
the neighborhood. In 1954, Pope Pius XI1I named the church aminor basilica, a
designation reserved for churches with exceptiona architectural merit, alarge following,
and higorica sgnificance as a center of worship in a particular community. In the case of
the Mission Church, the miracles attributed to the shrine contributed to the elevation of
its status. Minor basilicas receive papd privileges, are entitled to a coat of ams, asmall
tower with abdll to carry during processions, and an umbrelina The umbrelinaremains
haf-open at dl times, sgnifying that the baslicais prepared to host the pope whenever
he vidts. The Misson Church isone of only fifty-three churches designated a minor
baglicain the country, (there are no mgor basilicas in the United States), and isthe
oldest of the threein New England.

Architectural Significance

The buildings that comprise the Mission Church complex are individudly significant for
their architecturd digtinction. Each designed by architects recognized for Catholic
projectsin Boston, New Y ork, and other parts of the Northeast, they stand asfine
examples of craftsmanship and popular architectura aesthetics.

Four architects constructed the Mission Church Complex over the course of twenty-five
years.

Building Architect Date
Badlica William Schickd and Issac Ditmars 1878
Badlicatowers F. Joseph Untersee 1910
Convent Henry Burns 1889
Mission School Henry Burns 1889
. Alphonsus Hall F. Joseph Untersee 1898
Grammar School Henry Burns 1901
Rectory F. Joseph Untersee 1903

William Schickd, born in Hochbein, Germany, and Isaac Ditmars, born in Nova Scotia,
Canada, were partnersin a prominent New Y ork architectural firm founded in 1885.
Schickel began his career with Richard Morris Hunt, who designed estates for the
Vanderbilt family, including Biltmore in Asheville, North Caroling, and the Breskersin
Newport, Rhode Idand, aswell as severd buildings on the campus of the United States
Military Academy in West Point, New Y ork. Ditmars received his early training with the
architect John Miller in New York.



Schickd and Ditmars were known for their work on Catholic churches and hospital
buildingsin the New Y ork metropolitan area. These include . Ignatius of Loyola, S.
Joseph’s, and St. Monica sin Manhattan, and the Cathedral of the Sacred Heart across
the Hudson River in Newark, New Jersey. Although the firm aso designed commercia
buildings and private resdences, they were best known for their ecclesiagticad work. Both
partners were eected Fellows of the American Indtitute of Architectsin recognition of
their contributions to the field. Schickel died in 1907 and Ditmars continued the work of
the firm until 1930 when he retired.

Like Schickel and Ditmars, F. Joseph Untersee aso specidized in ecclesiagtical
architecture. He was born in Glarus, Switzerland, and trained in his native country and in
Germany. After serving as the assgtant to the city architect of Bern, Switzerland, he
came to Brooklinein 1882. Though he opened an office in Boston, many of hisearly
works were located in Brookline, including the Public Bath House and the Brookline
Savings Bank. He is best known for his churches, however, including the church and
rectory of Our Lady of Perpetud Help in Brooklyn, New York, St. Anthony’sin Allston,
Massachusetts, and severd buildings for the Redemptorist Fathers at their seminary in
Esopus-on-the-Hudson River in New Y ork.

Untersee designed the buildings of the Brighton Catholic Indtitute at St. Columbkill€'s,
one of the only Roman Catholic developments in Boston that compares to the Mission
Church complex in size and scope. In addition to the towers on the basilica, S.
Alphonsus Hal, and the rectory at the Misson Hill complex, Untersee aso designed the
Classcd Revivd Misson Church High School in 1926, which was sold to the city of
Boston by the Redemptoristsin 1999. This building was the last work he completed
before his death in 1927.

Building permit records indicate that Henry Burns designed the Mission School and the
convent. Further documentation of his architectural career has not been uncovered. His
office was probably not located in Boston, as he does not gppear in any city directories of
the period.

All of the buildingsin the Misson Church Complex are constructed of masonry. Severd
buildings feature Roxbury puddingstone, acommon loca building materid which was
quarried adjacent to the site. Also known as Roxbury conglomerate, puddingstoneisa
metamorphic amagam of materids combined over time by eroson and glaciers. The
materias hardened and fused together with the heat and pressure from the ocean and
other rocks. Severd buildings near the Mission Church complex are constructed entirely
of puddingstone, including fine examplesat 2, 3, 4, and 5 Sewall Street, 682-688 Parker
Street, and 1472-1474 Tremont Street.

The architecture of the buildings that comprise the complex istypicd of thelate
nineteenth and early twentieth centuries: Romanesgue Reviva, Queen Anne, Italianate,
Georgian Reviva, and Victorian Gothic. The design of the basilicais of particular
sgnificance, as architecturd merit contributed to the eevation of the Misson Church to
baslica gatus in 1954.
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Relationship to Criteriafor Landmark Designation

Surveyed by the Boston Landmarks Commission in 1985 as part of the Mission Hill
Preservation Sudy, the Misson Church complex was evauated as a resource of locdl,
regiond and nationd ggnificance. The complex was recommended for both National
Regider liging and individua Landmark designation. The Mission Church complex
meets the criteriafor Landmark designation found in section four of Chapter 772 of the
Acts of 1975 as amended, under the following criteria

B. asa property identified prominently with an important aspect of the economic,
social and political history of the city, the commonwealth, and the region. As
the long-time religious, cultural, and socid center of Mission Hill, a neighborhood
which owes much of its development to, and derives its name from the property,
the Misson Church complex isintegraly associated with the socid history of
Boston. Asone of very few basilicas desgnated in New England, and alimited
number of badlicas in the nation, the Mission Church aso achieves regiona and
nationd sgnificance.

D. asa property representative of elements of architectural design embodying
distinctive characteristics of a type inherently valuable for study. The buildings
that comprise the Misson Church complex stand as distinguished examples of
nineteenth and early twentieth century architecture and building craftsmanship.

The complex retainsits integrity of form, design, setting, materids, and dements.
The scde of the complex and the attention to ornament and detall in the
construction of the buildings record the prominence of the Catholic Churchiin
Bogton in the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries.
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4.0

4.1

4.2

ECONOMIC STATUS
Current Assessed Value

According to the City of Boston Assessor’ s records, the properties located at 1545
Tremont Street, 1525 Tremont Street, 100 St. Alphonsus Street, 80 Smith Street, 90
Smith Street, and 100 Smith Street, Roxbury have atotal assessed vaue of
$10,881,000.00, with the land vaued at $1,921,100.00 and the buildings at
$8,959,900.00.

Current Owner ship

The entire Mission Church complex was owned by the Redemptorist Fathers located at
1545 Tremont Street, Roxbury, Massachusetts, 02120, until 2003. In October of that
year, the Redemptorists sold the convent, Mission School, &. Alphonsus Hall, and the
boiler house to Mission Associates, LLC.
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5.1

5.2

PLANNING CONTEXT
Background

The Misson Church complex comprises six buildings, two annexes, aboiler house, and a
formd courtyard, dl of which were congtructed within twenty-five years of one another.
They stand as a remarkably intact group of interrelated buildings and grounds that
represent the growth and range of activities of the Misson Church parish during the late
nineteerth and early twentieth centuries. The basilicaand its associated buildings were
the socid and spiritud center for the German and Irish immigrant communities of

Mission Hill during that time, and continue to serve the residents of the neighborhood,

despite the changing demographics and the diminishing Sze of the congregation.
Current Planning | ssues

In the mid 1990s, the Redemptorist Fathers expressed the necessity of developing the
lower campus of the complex containing the convent, the Mission School and boiler

house, and . Alphonsus Hall to recover revenue for the maintenance of the buildings on
the upper campus. The development Site was dated for housing. Neighborhood residents
responded to this development proposal with a petition for Landmark designation for the
Mission Church complex, submitted to the BLC on September 21%, 2000. The BLC
accented the petition for further study on October 10™, 2000.

The Redemptorist Fathers sold the Mission High School, located afew blocks away from
the complex on Parker Street, to the City of Boston in 1999. The funds from this sde
provided an endowment for the church for the maintenance of the basilicaand the
grammar school. Recent capita improvements include repairs to the baslica spiresin the
late 1990s, and within the last four years, a $1.5 million replacement of the roof of the
basilica, the addition of a $300,000 ramp to facilitate handicapped access to the church,
new paving and curbstone laid in the parking area abutting the eastern wall of the church
at acost of $200,000, and $100,000 masonry repair to the rectory entrance. The
Massachusetts Historicad Commission (MHC) contributed haf of the cost of the ramp
and the masonry repair of the rectory.

The Redemptorist Fathers sold the lower campus buildings to Misson Associates, LLC
in October of 2003. The development plans at one time caled for the demolition of the
convent, the Mission School, and St. Alphonsus Hal to make way for asingle twenty-
four story tower on the Ste of the three Smith Street properties. Nearly dl 212 gpartment
units which would be priced at market rate. Neighborhood residents looked unfavorably
on the demolition, and expressed concerns about the height and density of the new
development, increased traffic, and the potentia influx of college sudentsto the
neighborhood that the development could initiate.

At the request of Mayor Thomas M. Menino, the BRA formed a Mission Hill Citizens
Advisory Committee (CAC) to facilitate neighborhood involvement in the development
proposal process of the Mission Church complex, as well as other Redemptorist-owned



5.3

gtesin the neighborhood. Many residents of Mission Hill opposed the demalition of the
three buildings. In response, PreservatiON MASS (then, Historic Massachusetts
Incorporated) named the Misson Church complex one of its Ten Most Endangered
propertiesin Massachusettsin 2001.

To address community concerns, Weston Associates, devel opers of the site, collaborated
with the BRA and the CAC to scale down the project while exploring reuse options for
the Smith Street properties. Weston initidly proposed arevised project of eight to nine
gtories of new congtruction across the Smith Street site. Reuse ideas pursued by the
developer a the request of the BRA and the CAC included converting the buildings into
condominiums, a hotel, or office gpace. Many inditutions and organizetions were
contacted in this preservation process. Despite the effort, not asingle indtitution or
organization was able to find an economicdly feasble use for &. Alphonsus Hall, and
none expressed an immediate need for the other buildings on the lower site.

Following more than two years of collaboration, many of the CAC members and Weston
Associates have arrived at a compromise that would preserve the Mission School asthe
centerpiece of a new resdentiad development. According to the present scheme, the
school will be preserved and rehabilitated for resdentia occupancy. The convent will be
demolished and replaced by an eeven story tower, aso outfitted with resdentid units.

S. Alphonsus Hdl will be demolished to accommodate a fourteen story residentid tower.
Underground parking in the shape of a U will skirt the Misson School, and surface
parking will be provided behind it.

Residents of Misson Hill continue to express concerns about the demolition of .
Alphonsus Hall, and strongly request thet at least the entry block of the building be
preserved in the new development.

Current Zoning

Parcel 12, Ward 10, located at 1545 Tremont Street, Roxbury, is zoned in the Mission
Hill Neighborhood Didtrict, Tremont Community Facilities (CF) Subditrict. According

to Section 59-20 of Article 59 of the Boston Zoning Code, the purpose of the Community
Facilities Subdidtricts is to encourage the development and expangion of important
community-based facilities in the Misson Hill Neighborhood Didtrict that provide
educationd, hedth, and cultura services to the community and are an important part of
the fabric of the Misson Hill community.



6.0 ALTERNATIVE APPROACHES
6.1 Alternatives available to the Boston L andmar ks Commission:

A. Individual Landmark Designation
Surveyed by the Boston Landmarks Commission in 1985 as part of the Mission Hill
Preservation Sudy, the Misson Church rated all with nationd, regiond, state, and
local ggnificance, and the other five buildings received arating of 111. The survey
recommends the complex for listing on the National Register of Higtoric Places and
designation as a Boston Landmark. This study report confirms that the Misson
Church complex is of sufficient importance to merit individud Landmark designation
under Chapter 772 of the Acts of 1975, as amended. Designation of the Misson
Church complex shall correspond to Assessor’s parcel 12, ward 10, and shall address
the following exterior eements hereinafter referred to as the “ Specified Exterior
Festures”
All exterior eevations of the baslica, the rectory, the grammar school, the
Mission Schooal, the convent, . Alphonsus Hall, the annexes, the boiler house,
and dl of the grounds, including the courtyard, ste walls (interior and perimeter),
and fences.

B. Denial of Individual Landmark Designation
The Commission retains the option of not designating any or dl of the Specified
Exterior Features as a Landmark.

C. Preservation Restriction
The Commission could recommend the owner congder a preservation restriction for
any or dl of the Specified Exterior Features.

D. Preservation Plan
The Commission could recommend development and implementation of a
preservation plan for the complex.

E. National Register Listing
Recognized by the Massachusetts Historical Commission as a property which meets
the criteriafor listing on the National Regigter of Higtoric Places, the Misson Church
complex currently is afforded limited protection from federa, federally-licensed or
federdly-asssted activities. The Commission could recommend the proponent pursue
Nationd Regiger liging, which would enable the developer to consider incentives for
preservation. These include the investment tax credit for the certified rehabilitation of
income- producing historic properties. Property remaining in non-profit ownership
could dso qudify for grants through the Massachusetts Preservation Projects Fund
from the Massachusetts Historical Commission.
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Impact of Alternatives

A. Individual Landmark Designation
Landmark designation represents the City’ s highest honor and is therefore restricted
to cultura resources of outstanding architectural and/or historical significance.
Landmark designation under Chapter 772 would require review of physical changes
to the Specified Exterior Features of the property, in accordance with the standards
and criteria adopted as part of the designation. Landmark designation resultsin
ligting on the State Register of Historic Places.

B. Denial of Individual Landmark Designation
Without Landmark designation, the City would be unable to offer protection to the
Specified Exterior Features, or extend guidance to the owners under Chapter 772.

C. Preservation Restriction
Chapter 666 of the M.G.L. Acts of 1969, allows individuals to protect the
architecturd integrity of their property via a preservation retriction. A redtriction
may be donated to or purchased by any governmentd body or non-profit organization
cagpable of acquiring interestsin land and strongly associated with higtoric
preservation. These agreements are recorded instruments (normally deeds) that run
with the land for a specific term or in perpetuity, thereby binding not only the owner
who conveyed the redtriction, but aso subsequent owners. Redtrictions typicaly
govern aterations to exterior features and maintenance of the appearance and
condition of the property.

D. Preservation Plan
A preservation plan alows an owner to work with interested partiesto investigete
various adaptive use scenarios, andyze investment costs and rates of return, and
provide recommendations for subsequent development. However, it does not carry
regulatory oversight.

E. National Register
National Register listing provides an honorary designation and limited protection
from federa, federdly-licensed or federdly-asssted activities. It creates incentives
for preservation, notably the federa investment tax credit and grants through the
M assachusetts Preservation Projects Fund from the Massachusetts Historical
Commission. Nationa Regigter listing provides liging on the State Regidter,
affording pardle protection for projects with sate involvement and dso the
avalability of date tax credits. Tax credits are not available to owners who demolish
portions of historic properties.
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7.0

RECOMMENDATIONS

The Misson Church complex is significant on anationd, Sate, regiond, and locd levd.
The complex that dates from 1876-1903 remains completely intact, athough three of the
buildings have been vacated and are threetened with demoalition. The complex is
ggnificant for its scae as the grandest example of a parish complex built in Boston, for
the architecturd didtinction of the individua buildings, and for the Satus of the Our Lady
of Perpetud Help basilica as one of only fifty-three minor basilicasin the United States,
and the oldest of three in Massachusetts. The complex also achieves socid sgnificance
for its contributions to the Misson Hill neighborhood since 1869, for itsimpact on
residents of Boston, and for the internationa reputation of the Our Lady of Perpetua
Help shrine, attributed with the restoration of health to thousands of people.

Therefore, the gtaff of the Boston Landmarks Commission recommends that the Misson
Church complex, as described in Section 6.1A, be designated a Landmark under Chapter
772 of the Acts of 1975, as amended. The boundaries shal correspond to ward 10, parcel
12 as depicted on the City of Boston Assessor’s map.



8.0

8.1

GENERAL STANDARDSAND CRITERIA
I ntroduction

Per sections, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 of the enabling Statute (Chapter 772 of the Acts of 1975 of
the Commonwesdlth of Massachusetts, as amended) Standards and Criteria must be
adopted for each Landmark Designation which shdl be gpplied by the Commission in
evaluating proposed changes to the property. The Standards and Criteria established thus
note those features which must be conserved and/or enhanced to maintain the viability of
the Landmark Designation. Before a Certificate of Design Approva or Certificate of
Exemption can be issued for such changes, the changes must be reviewed by the
Commission with regard to their conformance to the purpose of the statute.

Theintent of these guiddinesisto help locd officids, designers and individua property
owners to identify the characteristics that have led to designation, and thus to identify the
limitation to the changes that can be made to them. It should be emphasized that
conformance to the Standards and Criteria a one does not necessarily insure gpproval, nor
are they absolute, but any request for variance from them must demonstrate the reason
for, and advantages gained by, such variance. The Commission's Certificate of Design
Approvd isonly granted after careful review of each application and public hearing, in
accordance with the statute.

Asintended by the datute awide variety of buildings and fegtures are included within the
area open to Landmark Designation, and an equaly wide range exigs in the letitude
alowed for change. Some properties of truly exceptiond architectural and/or historica
vaue will permit only the most minor modifications, while for some othersthe
Commission encourages changes and additions with a contemporary approach, cons stent
with the properties exigting features and changed uses.

In generd, the intent of the Standards and Criteriais to preserve existing qualities that
cause designation of a property; however, in some cases they have been structured asto
encourage the removad of additions that have lessened the integrity of the property.

It is recognized that changes will be required in designated properties for awide variety
of reasons, not al of which are under the complete control of the Commisson or the
owners. Primary examples are: Building code conformance and safety requirements,
Changes necessitated by the introduction of modern mechanica and eectrica systems,
Changes due to proposed new uses of a property.

The response to these requirements may, in some cases, present conflicts with the
Standards and Criteriafor a particular property. The Commission's evaluation of an
goplication will be based upon the degree to which such changes are in harmony with the
character of the property. In some cases, priorities have been assigned within the
Standards and Criteriaas an aid to property ownersin identifying the most critical design
features. The treatments outlined below are listed in hierarchica order from least amount
of intervention to the greatest amount of intervention. The owner, manager or devel oper



should follow them in order to ensure a successful project that is sengtive to the historic
landmark.

| dentify, Retain, and Preserve the form and detalling of the materials and features
that define the hitoric character of the Structure or Site. These are basic treatments
that should prevent actions that may cause the diminution or loss of the structure's or
ste's higtoric character. It isimportant to remember that loss of character can be
caused by the cumulative effect of insendtive actions whether large or small.

Protect and Maintain the materids and features that have been identified as
important and must be retained during the rehabilitation work. Protection usudly
involves the least amount of intervention and is done before other work.

Repair the character defining festures and materiads when it is necessary. Repairing
begins with the least amount of intervention as possible. Patching, piecing-in,
splicing, consolidating or otherwise reinforcing according to recognized preservation
methods are the techniques that should be followed. Repairing may dso include
limited replacement in kind of extremely deteriorated or missing parts of features.
Replacements should be based on surviving prototypes.

Replacement of entire character defining festures or materias follows repair when
the deterioration prevents repair. The essential form and detailing should till be
evident so that the physica evidence can be used to re-establish the feature. The
preferred option is replacement of the entire festure in kind using the same materid.
Because this gpproach may not dways be technicaly or economicaly feasble the
commisson will consder the use of compatible subgtitute materia. The commisson
does not recommend removal and replacement with new materia afeature that could
be repaired.

Missing Historic Featur es should be replaced with new features that are based on
adequate higtoricd, pictorid and physical documentation. The commisson may
consder areplacement feature that is competible with the remaining character
defining features. The new design should match the scale, size, and materid of the
hitoric fegture.

Alterations or Additions that may be needed to assure the continued use of the
historic structure or site should not radically change, obscure or destroy character
defining spaces, materids, features or finishes. The commission encourages new uses
that are compatible with the historic Structure or site and that do not require mgjor
dteraions or additions.

In these guiddines the verb Should indicates a recommended course of action; the verb
Shall indicates those actions which are specificaly required to preserve and protect
sgnificant architectura dements.

Findly, the Standards and Criteria have been divided into two levels:

Section 8.3 — Generd guiddinesthat are common to dl landmark designations
(building exteriors, building interiors, landscape festures and archeological Sites).



Section 9.0 — Specific guideines that apply to each particular property thet is
designated. In every case the Specific Standards and Criteriafor a particular property
shall take precedence over the Generd onesif thereisa conflict.



8.2

Levels of Review

The Commission has no desire to interfere with the norma maintenance procedures for
the landmark. In order to provide some guidance for the landmark owner, manager or
developer and the Commisson, the activities which might be construed as causing an
dteration to the physica character of the exterior have been categorized into:

A.

Routine activitieswhich are not subject to review by the Commission:

1. Activities associated with routine maintenance, including such items as:
Housekeeping, pruning, fertilizing, mulching, etc.

2. Routine activities associated with seasond indalations that do not result in any
permanent dterations or attached fixtures.

Activitieswhich may be deter mined by the Executive Director to be dligiblefor a

Certificate of Exemption:

1. Ordinary maintenance and repair involving no change in design, materid, color
and outward appearance, including such items as. Mgor cleaning programs
(indluding chemicd surface dleaning), repainting, planting or remova of limited
number of trees or shrubs, mgor vegetation management.

2. Intkind replacement or repair.

Activitiesrequiring Landmarks Commission review:

Any recondruction, restoration, replacement, ateration or demolition (Thisincludes
but is not limited to surface treatments, fixtures and ornaments) such as: New
congtruction of any type; remova of existing festures or dement; any dteration
involving change in design, materia color, location or outward appearance; mgor
planting or remova of trees or shrubs, changesin land forms.

. Activities not explicitly listed above:

In the case of any activity not explicitly covered in these Standards and Criteria, the
Executive Director shdl determine whether an gpplication is required and if o,
whether it shdl be an application for a Certificate of Design Approva or Certificate
of Exemption.

Concurrent Jurisdiction

In some cases, issues which fal under the jurisdiction of the Landmarks Commission
may aso fal under the jurisdiction of other city, state and federa boards and
commissions such as the Boston Art Commission, the Massachusetts Higtorical
Commission, the Nationd Park Service and others. All effortswill be made to
expedite the review process. Whenever possible and appropriate, ajoint hearing will
be arranged.
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8.3

General Standardsand Criteria

1.

10.

11.

The design gpproach to the property should begin with the premise that the features of
higtorica and architectura significance described within the Study Report must be
preserved. In generd, thiswill minimize dterations that will be dlowed.

Changes and additions to the property and its environment that have taken placein
the course of time are evidence of the history of the property and the nelghborhood.
These changes to the property may have developed significance in their own right,
and this sgnificance should be recognized and respected. (The term "later
contributing features' shal be used to convey this concept.)

Deteriorated materials and/or features, whenever possible, should be repaired rather
than replaced or removed.

When replacement of features that define the historic character of the property is
necessary, it should be based on physica or documentary evidence of origina or later
contributing festures.

New materids should, whenever possible, match the materid being replaced in
physica properties and should be compatible with the Size, scale, color, materid and
character of the property and its environment.

New additions or dterations should not disrupt the essentiad form and integrity of the
property and should be compatible with the size, scale, color, meterial and character
of the property and its environment.

New additions or related new congtruction should be differentiated from the existing
thus, they should not necessarily be imitative of an earlier style or period.

New additions or aterations should be done in such away that if they wereto be
removed in the future, the essentiad form and integrity of the hitoric property would
be unimpaired.

Priority shdl be given to those portions of the property which are visble from public
ways or which it can be reasonability inferred may be in the future.

Surface cleaning shdl use the mildest method possible. Sandblasting, wire
brushing, or other similar abrasive cleaning methods shall not be per mitted.

Should any mgjor restoration or congtruction activity be considered for the property,
the Boston Landmarks Commission recommends that the proponents prepare an
higtoric building conservation study and/or consult a materids conservator early in
the planning process.



12. Sgnificant archeological resources affected by a project shal be protected and
preserved.

The Generd Standards and Criteria have been financed in part with funds from the Nationd Park
Service, U.S. Department of the Interior, through the Massachusetts Historicd Commission,
Secretary of State William Galvin, Chairman.

The U.S. Department of the Interior prohibits discrimination on the basis of race, color, nationa
origin, age, gender, or handicap in its federaly asssted programs. If you believe you have been
discriminated againgt in any program, activity or facility as described above, or if you desire
further information, please write to: Office for Equa Opportunity, 1849 C Street NW, Room
1324, U.S. Department of the Interior, Washington, D.C. 20240.

49



9.0 EXTERIORS - SPECIFIC STANDARDSAND CRITERIA

9.1

Mission Church Complex, Roxbury, Massachusetts

I ntroduction

The intent of these standards and criteria (in order of priority) is to preserve the overal
character and gppearance of the badlicaincduding its exterior form, its mass, and its
richness of detall; to preserve the sense of the Misson Church complex as a whole; and
to preserve the overal character and appearance of the secondary buildings and grounds,
including the rectory, grammar school, convent, Misson School, . Alphonsus Hal, the
annexes, the boiler house, the courtyard, ste wals (interior and perimeter), and fences, to
the extent that preservation is possible.

While dl of the buildings that comprise the Misson Church complex ae preferably
preserved, the Boston Landmarks Commisson may consder demolition of whole or
portions of individua secondary buildings as part of a larger plan to preserve the baslica
and the sense of the complex. The priorities of the desgnation are addressed individudly
in sections 9.2-9.4. Guiddines addressng landscape, new condtruction, and archaeology,
which are applicable to the entire site, appear in sections 9.5-9.7.

1. In these guiddines the verb Should indicates a recommended course of action; the
verb Shall indicates those actions which are specificaly required to preserve and
protect significant architectura eements.

2. The gandards and criteria acknowledge that there will be changes to the exterior of
the buildings, and are intended to ensure that these changes are sendtive to the
architecturd character of the complex and the buildings.

3. Each dructure and landscepe feature will be separately evauated to determine if later
additions and/or alterations can, or should, be removed.

4. Snce it is not possble to provide one generd guiddine, factors tha will be
consdered in determining whether later additions and/or dteraions can, or should, be
removed include:

a.  Compatibility with the origind design integrity in scde, materids and character.
b. Higtoric association with the property.

c. Qudlity of the design and execution of the additiorv/dteration.

d. Functiond ussfulness.

5. The baslica, rectory, grammar school, convent, Misson School, &. Alphonsus Hal,
the annexes, the boiler house, the courtyard, Ste wals (interior and perimeter), and
fences are subject to the terms of the exterior guidelines specificaly sated herein.



9.2

6.

Items under Commission review include but are not limited to the following: exterior
wadls, windows, entrances/doors, ironwork, roofs, roof projections, additions, exterior
lighting, dgnage accesshility, landscape and grounds, new congruction, demoalition,
additions, and archaeology. Items not anticipated in the Standards and Criteria may
be subject to review.

Our Lady of Perpetual Help Baslica

9.2 A Exterior Walls

1.

No portion of the basilica shal be demolished.

No new openings shal be alowed.

No origina existing openings shdl befilled or changed in Sze.
No exposed conduit shdl be alowed on any devation.

Origind or later contributing projections such as orids and bays shdl not be
removed.

The Boston Landmarks Commission recommends that work proposed to the materias
outlined in section 9.2 B be executed with the guidance of a professond building
materials conservator.

9.2B Masonry (Brick, Stone, Terra Cotta, Concrete, Stucco and Mortar)

1.

2.

All' masonry shal be preserved.

Origind or later contributing masonry materids, features, details, surfaces and
ornamentation shdl be retained and, if necessary, repaired by patching, piecing-in, or
consolidating the masonry using recognized preservation methods.

Deteriorated or missng masonry materids, features, detalls, surfaces and
ornamentation shdl be replaced with materid and dements which maich the origind
in materid, color, texture, Sze, shape, profile and detall of ingalation.

When replacement of materids or dements is necessary, it should be based on
physical or documentary evidence.

If usng the same materid is not technicadly feasble, then compatible subgtitute
materids may be considered.

Origind mortar shdl be retained.
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10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

Deteriorated mortar shal be carefully removed by hand-raking the joints use of
mechanica saws and hammers shdl not be alowed.

Repointing mortar shal duplicate the origind mortar in drength, compostion, color,
texture, joint Sze, joint profile, and method of application.

Sample pands of raking the joints and repointing shal be reviewed and gpproved by
the staff of the Boston Landmarks Commission.

Cleaning of masonry is discouraged and should be performed only when necessary to
hat deterioration.

If the building isto be cleaned, the mildest method possible shdl be used.

A test patch of the cleaning method(s) shal be reviewed and approved on site by staff
of the Boston Landmarks Commission. Test patches should dways be caried out
well in advance of cleaning (including exposure to dl seasonsif possible).

Sandblasting (wet or dry), wire brushing, or other smilar abrasive cleaning
methods shall not be permitted. Doing so changes the visud qudity of the materid
and accel erates deterioration.

Waterproofing or water repdlents are srongly discouraged. These treatments are
gengdly not effective in preserving masonry and can cause permanent damage. The
Commisson does recognize that in extraordinary circumstances their use may be
required to solve a specific problem. Samples of any proposed treatment shall be
reviewed by the Commission before gpplication.

In generd, painting masonry surfaces shal not be alowed. Painting masonry surfaces
will be consdered only when there is documentary evidence tha this treatment was
used at some point in the history of the property.

9.2 C Windows

Refer to Section 9.2A regarding general guidelines for openings and Section 9.2 B
regarding treatment of materials and features.

1.

2.

All shdl be preserved.
The origind window design and arrangement of window openings shal be retained.

Enlarging or reducing window openings for the purpose of fitting stock (larger or
gmadler) window sash or air conditioners shdl not be alowed.

Remova of window sash and the inddlaion of permanent fixed pands to
accommodate air conditioners shal not be dlowed.
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10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

Origina or later contributing window eements, features (functiond and decordive),
details and ornamentation shal be retained and, if necessary, repaired by patching,
golicing, consolideting or othewise reinforcing usng recognized preservation
methods.

Deteriorated or missng window elements, features (functiond and decorative),
detals and ornamentation shdl be replaced with materid and dements which match
the origind in materid, color, texture, Sze, shape, profile, configuration and detal of
ingallation.

When replacement is necessary, it should be based on physicd or documentary
evidence.

Aluminum, vinyl, metal clad or vinyl clad replacement sash shdl not be dlowed.

Smulaed munting induding sngp-in, surface-applied, or between-glass grids shdl
not be allowed.

Tinted or reflective-coated glass (i.e.: low "€") shdl not be alowed.
Metd or vinyl panning of the wood frame and molding shal not be dlowed.

Only dear sngle-paned glass shdl be dlowed in multi-light windows since insulaing
glassin multi-light windows will exaggerate the width of the muntins.

Exterior combination sorm windows may be dlowed provided the ingdlation has a
minima visuad impact. However, use of interior ssorm windows is encouraged.

Exterior combination sorm windows shdl have a narrow perimeter framing that does
not obscure the glazing of the primary window. In addition, the meeting rail of the
combination sorm window shdl dign with that of the primary window.

Storm window sashes and frames shdl have a painted finish that matches the primary
window sash and frame color.

Clear or mill finished duminum frames shdl not be dlowed.

Exterior storm windows shal not be alowed for arched windows, leaded glass,
faceted frames, or bent (curved) glass.

Window frames, sashes and blinds (shutters) shdl be of a color based on paint
seriation sudies. If an adequate record does not exist repainting shal be done with
colorsthat are appropriate to the style and period of the building.



9.2 D Entrances/Door s

Refer to Section 9.2A regarding general guidelines for openings, to Section 9.2 B
regarding treatment of materials and features, and to Section 9.2 | regarding entry
illumination for additional Standards and Criteria that may apply.

1.

2.

10.

11.

12.

13.

The origina entrance design and arrangement of door openings shdl be retained.
All origind and later contributing doors shall be preserved.

Enlarging or reducing entrance/door openings for the purpose of fitting stock (larger
or amdler) doors shdl not be allowed.

Origind or laer contributing entrance maerids, dements deals and features
(functional and decorative) shall be retained and, if necessary, repaired by patching,
glicing, consolidating or otherwise reinforcing using  recognized  preservation
methods.

Deteriorsted or missng entrance dements, materias, festures (functiond and
decoraive) and details shdl be replaced with materia and dements which maich the
origind in materid, color, texture, Sze, shegpe profile, configuration and detail of
ingdlation.

When replacement is necessary, it should be based on physicad or documentary
evidence.

If usng the same materid is not technicdly feadble, then compatible subgtitute
materias may be considered.

Origind or laer contributing entrance materiads, eements, features (functiona and
decorative) and details shdl not be sheathed or otherwise obscured by other materials.

Only paneled doors of gppropriate design, materia and assembly shdl be alowed.

Fush doors (metd, wood, vinyl or plastic), diding doors and metd panded doors
shdl not be dlowed.

Storm doors (duminum or wood-framed) shdl not be dlowed on the primary
entrance. They may be alowed on secondary entrances. Where dlowed, storm doors
shall be painted to match the color of the primary door.

Replacement door hardware should replicate the origind or be appropriate to the style
and period of the building.

Buzzers, darms and intercom panels shdl be flush mounted insde the recess of the
entrance and not on the face of the building.



14. Entrance dlements dhdl be of a color based on paint seriation sudies. If an adequate

record does not exist repainting shall be done with colors that are gppropriate to the
style and period of the building/entrance.

9.2E Ironwork

1.

Origind or later contributing ironwork materids, dements, features (functiona and
decorative), details and ornamentation shal be retained and, if necessary, repaired by
patching, splicing or reinforcing using recognized preservation methods.

Deteriorated or missng ironwork materids, eements features (functiond and
decorative), detaills and ornamentation shal be replaced with materid and eements
which match the origind in materid, color, texture, sSze, shape, profile, configuration
and detall of ingdlation.

When replacement is necessary, it should be based on physcad or documentary
evidence.

If usng the same maerid is not technicdly feesble, then compatible subditute
materias may be considered.

Origind or laer contributing ironwork materids, eements, features (functiond and
decorative), details and ornamentation shal not be sheathed or otherwise obscured by
other materias.

New ba conies shdl not be alowed.

Fixed diagond fire stairways shal not be alowed.

Theingdlaion of security grillesmay considered below the nave level.

Window grilles shdl be mounted within the window reved and secured into the
mortar joints rather than into the masonry or onto the face of the building.

10. Window grilles shal have pierced horizontd rails or butt-welded joints.

11. Overlgpping welded joints shdl not be alowed.

12. Window grilles shal not project beyond the face of the building.

13. Ironwork dements dhdl be of a color based on paint seriation studies. If an adequate

record does not exist repainting shal be done with colors that are gppropriate to the
style and period of the building/entrance.



9.2F Roofs

Refer to Section 9.2 B regarding treatment of materials and features, Section 9.2 G
regarding roof projections and appurtenances, and Section 9.2 H regarding
additionsfor additional Standardsand Criteria that may apply.

1.

2.

The roof shape shdl be preserved.

Origind or laer contributing roofing meaterids, eements, features (decorative and
functiond), details and ornamentation shdl be retained and, if necessary, repaired by
patching or reinforcing using recognized preservation methods.

Deteriorated or missng roofing materids, dements, features (functiond and
decorative), details and ornamentation shal be replaced with materid and dements
which match the origind in materid, color, texture, Sze, shape, profile, configuration
and detall of ingdlation.

When replacement is necessary, it dhdl be based on physca or documentary
evidence.

If usng the same maerid is not technicdly feesble, then compatible subditute
materids may be considered.

Origind or later contributing roofing materids, dements, features (functiond and

decorative), details and ornamentation shall not be sheathed or otherwise obscured by
other materials.

All replacement flashing, gutters, and downspouts shdl be copper or match the
origind materid and finish

Externad gutters and downspouts shdl not be alowed unless they are based on
physical or documentary evidence.

9.2G Roof Projectionsand Appurtenances
(includes Penthouses, Roof Decks, Mechanical or Electrical Equipment, Satellite
Dishes, Antennas and other Communication Devices)

1.

Roof projections shdl not be alowed.

9.2H Additions

1.

Additions shdl not be dlowed.



9.21 Exterior Lighting

Refer to Section 9.5 regarding landscape and building site for additional Standards
and Criteriathat may apply.

1.

10.

11.

There are three aspects of lighting related to the exterior of the building:

a Lighting fixtures as gppurtenances to the building or dements of architecturd
ornamentation (including color, shape, Sze, and materid).

b. Qudity of illumination on building exterior.

c. Interior lighting as seen from the exterior.

Wherever integrd to the building, origind or laer contributing lighting fixtures shdl
be retained and, if necessary, repaired by patching, piecing-in or reinforcing the
lighting fixture using recognized preservation methods.

Deteriorated or missng lighting fixture materids, dements, features (functiond and
decorative), detals and ornamentation shdl be replaced with materid and dements
which match the origind in materid, color, texture, sze, shape, profile, configuraion
and detail of ingalation.

When replacement is necessary, it should be based on physicd or documentary
evidence.

If udng the same maerid is not technicdly feasble, then compatible subgtitute
materials may be consdered.

Origind or later contributing lighting fixture maerids, dements, features (functiond
and decordive), detals and ornamentation shal not be shesthed or otherwise
obscured by other materias.

Supplementary illumination may be added where appropriae to the current use of the
building.

Entry lighting shdl be located in traditiona locaions (eg., suspended from the
vestibule celling, or atached to the sSide panels of the entrance).

Light fixtures shdl not be affixed to the face of the building.

Light fixtures shal be of a design and scae that is gppropriate to the style and period
of the building and should not imitate styles earlier than the building. Contemporary
light fixtures may be considered.

New lighting shdl conform to any of the following approaches as appropriate to the
building and to the current or projected use:

57



a. Accurate representation of the original period, based on physical or documentary
evidence.

b. Retention or regoraion of fixtures which date from an interim ingdlation and
which are consdered to be appropriate to the building and use.

c. New lignting fixtures which ae dffaentigted from the origind or later
contributing fixture in desgn and which illuminae the exterior of the building in
away which rendersit visble a night and compatible with its environment.

d. The new exterior lighting location shdl fulfill the functiond intent of the current
use without obscuring the building form or architecturd detalling.

12. Interior lighting shdl be reviewed only when its character has a sgnificant effect on
the exterior of the building;, that is when the view of the illuminated fixtures
themsdves, or the qudity and color of the light they produce is cealy vishle
through the exterior fenestration.

13. No exposed conduit shall be alowed.

14. Architecturd night lighting is recommended for Landmarked buildings.

9.2J Signs, Marqueesand Awnings

1. New sgns, marquees, and avnings shdl not be alowed.

2. Replacement of existing Sgns shdl be subject to review.

9.2K Accessbility

Refer to Sections 9.2 A regarding exterior walls, 9.2 B regarding treatment of
materials, Section 9.2 D regarding entrances and doors, 9.2 E regarding ironwork,
9.2 Fregarding roofs, 9.2 G regarding roof projections and appurtenances, and 9.2
H regarding additionsfor additional Standardsand Criteria that may apply.

1. A threesep approach is recommended to identify and implement accesshility
modifications that will protect the integrity and hitoric character of the property:

a Review the higoricd dgnificance of the property and identify character-defining
features,

b. Assessthe property's existing and required leve of accesshility;

c. Evauate accessbility optionswithin a preservation context.

2. Because of the complex nature of accessbility, the Commisson will review proposas
on a case by case bass. The Commisson recommends conaulting with the following
document which is available from the Commission office



9.3

94

U.S. Depatment of the Interior, Nationa Pak Service, Culturd Resources,
Preservation Assdance Dividon;, Preservation Brief 32 "Making Historic
Properties Accessible” by Thomas C. Jester and Sharon C. Park, AlA.

The Mission Church Complex

Refer to Section 9.2 B regarding treatment of materials, 9.2 E regarding ironwork,
9.2 K regarding accessibility, and Section 9.5 regarding landscape/building ste for
additional Standardsand Criteria that may apply.

1.

2.

5.

Views of the basilicashal be preserved.

The reationships among buildings and open spaces shdl be retained, induding views
between the courtyard and the lower campus, massing, scale, and Sting.

The higtoric circulation pattern within the Ste shdl be retained.

The redionship of the individud buildings to the dreet shdl be retained, induding
street edges, setbacks, rhythm of entrances, and fenestration patterns.

Origind and later contributing fences and retaining wals shal be preserved.

The Secondary Buildings

1. All of the buildings that comprise the Misson Church Complex are preferably
preserved.

2. Where demalition of whole or portions of secondary buildings of the Misson Church
complex is not gpproved by the Commission, the guidelines ddineated in section 9.2
shdl apply to dl secondary buildings with the following modifications and additions:

a.  Exposad conduits on secondary eevations may be considered. (See 9.2 A no. 3)

b.

C.

If use of the same materids is not technicaly or economicdly fessble when
replacement of masonry materiads, features, details, surfaces, and ornamentation
IS necessary, then compatible subdtitute materids may be considered. (See 9.2 B
no. 5)

Window frames, sashes, and blinds should be of a color based on paint seriation
dudies. If an adequate record does not exis, repainting should be done with
colors that are appropriate to the style and period of the building. (See 9.2 C no.
18)

If use of the same maerid is not technicdly or economicdly fessble when
replacement of entrance dements, materids, features, and detals is necessary,
then compatible subgtitute materials may be considered. (See9.2 D no. 7)

Buzzers, dams, and intercom panels shdl be desgned so as to minimize ther
appearance. (See 9.2 D no. 14)
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Entrance dements on secondary buildings should be of a color based on pant

seriation sudies. If an adequate record does not exist, repainting should be done

with colors that are gppropriate to the style and period of the buildingsentrances.

(See 9.2 D no. 15)

If use of the same materid is not technicdly or economicdly feasible when

replacement of ironwork materids, eements, festures, details and ornamentation

is necessary, then compatible substitute materias may be consdered. (See 9.2 E

no. 5)

. New baconies may be considered on secondary eevations if they are required for
safety and an dternative egress route is clearly not possible. (See 9.2 E no. 6)

Theingalaion of security grillesmay be considered. (See 9.2 E no. 8)

Ironwork elements should be of a color based on pant seriation sudies. If an

adequate record does not exidt, repainting should be done with colors that are

appropriate to the style and period of the buildings/entrances. (See 9.2 E no. 15)

. When replacement of roofs is necessary, it should be based on physicd or

documentary evidence. (See 9.2 F no.4)

If use of the same maerid is not technicdly or economicdly feesble when

replacement of roofing materids, dements, features, detalls, and ornamentation is

necessary, then compatible substitute materials may be considered. (See 9.2 F no.

5)

. All replacement flashing, gutters, and downspouts should be copper or match the

origind materid and finish. (See9.2 F no. 7)

. Externd gutters and downspouts should not be used unless it is based on physica
or documentary evidence. (See 9.2 F no. 8)

. New skylights may be dlowed if they have a fla profile or have a traditiond

mullion shape, and are not visible from a public way.

. The badc citeria which shdl govern whether a roof projection can be added

include:

The presarvation of the integrity of the origind or later integra roof shape.
Height of the existing building.

Prominence of the existing roof form.

Visghility of the proposed roof projection.

PwWNPE

. Minimizing or diminaing the visud impact of roof projections is the generd
objective and the following guiddines shal be followed:

1. Location shdl be sdected where the roof projection is not visble from the
Sreet; setbacks shdl be utilized.

2. Ovedl height or other dimensons shdl be kept to a point where the roof
projection is not seen from the Stredt.

3. Exterior tretment shdl relae to the materids, color and texture of the
building or to other materids integra to the period and character of the
building, typicaly used for appendages.

4. Openings in a penthouse shdl rdate to the building in proportion, type and
gze of opening, wherever visudly gpparent.



r. An exterior addition shdl be consdered only after it has been determined that the
exiging building cannot meet the new gspace requirements, as additions can
sgnificantly dter the higtoric gppearance of the building.

1. New additions shdl be desgned so that the character defining festures of
the building are not radicaly changed, obscured, damaged or destroyed.

2. New additions ddl be desgned so that they are differentiated from the
exiding building, they should not necessxily be imitative of an earier
style or period.

3. New additions shdl be located a the rear or on an inconspicuous
eevation.

4. New additions shdl be of a Sze, scde and of materids that are in harmony
with the higtoric building.

5. Additiond dories, if dlowed, shdl be set back from the wal plane and
ghdl be as inconspicuous and minimdly visble from a public way as
possible.

S. Replacement of deteriorated or missng lighting fixture materids dements,
fedtures, deals, and ornamentation with fixtures in keeping with the building
may be considered. (See9.21 no. 3)

t. If use of the same materid is not technicaly or economicdly feasble when
replacement of lighting fixture materids dements, festures detals and
ornamentation is necessary, then compatible subditute materids may be
considered. (See9.21 no. 5)

u Signs maquees and awnings integrd to a hbulding's ornamentation or
architecturd detailing shdl be retained.

v. New dgns marquees and awnings shdl not detract from the essentid form of a
building, nor obscure its architectural features.

1. New ggns maquess, and awnings shdl be of a sze and materid
compatible with a building and its current use.

2. Signs, marquees and awnings gpplied to a building shal be gpplied in such
away that they could be removed without damaging the building.

3. All 9gns added to a huilding shdl be pat of one sysem of design, or
reflect a design concept appropriate to the communication intent.

4. All d9gns added to a building shdl be pat of one sysem of desgn, or
reflect adesign concept gppropriate to the communication intent.

5. Lettering forms or typeface will be evauated for the specific use intended,
but generdly shdl ether be contemporary or relate to the period of the
building or its later integra features.

6. Lighting of dgns will be evduated for the gpecific use intended, but
gengdly illuminaion of a Sgn shdl not dominae illumination of the
building. Interndly illuminated signs shdl not be alowed.
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9.5

3. With the priorities of preserving the baslica and the integrity of the Misson Church
complex as a whole, demalition of whole or portions of secondary buildings may be
considered by the Commission. (See Introduction to section 9.1)

4. In those ingances where demoalition of whole or portions of secondary buildings is
dlowed, building materids, achitectura ornament, and origind sash shdl be
sdvaged and reused on Site as appropriate, or made available for reuse by others.

L andscape/Building Site

Refer to Section 9.2 B regarding treatment of materials, 9.2 E regarding ironwork,
9.2 | regarding exterior lighting, and 9.4 (2u-v) regarding signs, marquees, and
awningsfor additional Standards and Criteria that may apply.

1. The generd intent is to preserve the origind or later contributing landscape features
that enhance the landmark property.

2. All origind or later contributing Ste features (decorative and functiona), materids,
eements, detals and ornamentation shal be retained, induding stone and masonry
pavement (brick, bluestone, and granite in particular), fences, and interior and
perimeter wdlls.

3. The courtyard shdl be preserved.

a. All treeswithin the courtyard and defining its edge shall be preserved.

b. The forma character of the organization of pahs within the courtyard
shdl be preserved, including their termination at a centra focus.

c. Alterations to the pavements, curbings, and other landscape features of the
courtyard shal be based on documentary evidence. If no documentation
of an origind landscape desgn exids, dterations shdl be sympathetic to
the historic character of the Site.

4. Origind or later contributing dSte festures shdl be repared, if necessary, usng
recognized preservation methods.

5. Deteriorated or missing Ste festures (decorative and functiond), materids, eements,
details and ornamentation shal be replaced with materid and eements which match
the origind in materid, color, texture, Sze, shape, profile and detall of ingalation.

6. When replacement is necessary, it should be based on physcad or documentary
evidence.

7. If usng the same materid is not technicdly or economicdly feasble, then compatible
ubgtitute materials may be considered.
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9.5

9.7

10.

11.

12.

13.

New additiongdterations to the dte induding fences, parking lots, loading docks,
ramps, etc. shdl be as unobtrusve as possible and preserve any origind or later
contributing Ste features as well as the historic character of the Ste.

Removd of non-higtoric ste features from the existing Site is encouraged.

The exiging landforms of the dte shal not be dtered unless shown to be necessary
for mantenance of the buildngs or the dte Additiond landforms will only be
considered if they will not obscure the historic character of the complex.

Origind layout and materids of the walks, steps, and paved areas shdl be maintained.
Congderation will be given to dterations if it can be shown tha better Ste circulation
is necessary and that the dterations will improve this without atering the integrity of
the landmark.

Exiging hedthy plant materids that contribute to the historic character of the ste
should be maintained as long as possble. New plant materiads should be added an a
schedule that will assure a continuity in the origind landscape desgn and its later
contributing features. If no documentation of an origind landscgpe design exigs,
new plantings shdl be sympathetic to the character of the Site.

Maintenance of, removad of, and additions to plant materids shdl consder
maintaining exising vidas of the basllica

New Construction

Refer to Sections 9.3 regarding the Misson Church Complex for additional
Standardsand Criteriathat may apply.

1.

3.

New condruction within the designated parcd (Wad 10 Parcd 12) shdl be
consgent with the character of the Misson Church complex (see section 9.3) and
shdl be subject to review.

For new condruction, setbacks in building height a the height of exiging cornice
lines shdl be required.

Materids for new congtruction shal be compatible with exigting historic buildings.

Archaeology

1.

Digturbance of the terrain around the buildings or Ste shdl be kept to a minimum so
as not to disturb any unknown archeologicd materials.

The building stes should be surveyed for potentid archeologica dtes prior to the
beginning of any congtruction project.



3. Known archeologica stes shal be protected during any construction project.

4. All planning, any necessary Ste investigation, or data recovery shal be conducted by
aprofessond archeologigt.



The Exteriors - Specific Standards and Criteria has been financed in part with funds from the
Nationd Park Service, U.S. Department of the Interior, through the Massachusetts Historical
Commission, Secretary of State William Francis Galvin, Charman.
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discriminated againgt in any program, activity or facility as described above, or if you desire
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